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The reconstruction of the Stagecoach Inn Museum has been carefully detailed
to resemble and duplicate the original structure. Several 5 x 7 photograph:
of the present structure are enclosed for comparison with photo copies of

1884 (man on wagon in front of Inn) and 1890 (southeast corner of building)

Originally constructed in 1876 as the Grand Union Hotel from the finest
materials of the day, it was built entirely of redwood lumber shipped down
the Pacific Coast from San Francisco to Port Hueneme (1:164; 2:4).

The building materials were freighted south up the Conejo Grade which was
then called -the "Butterfield Grade', by multi~teamed wagons from the
Oxnard Plain.. The building materials were delivered on May 20, 1876 and
the Inn, according to a newspaper article of the day, observed its grand
opening on July 4, 1876. The building cost owner James Hamel a total of
$7,000 to construct (2:4; 3:3).

The building was a 28-room L-shaped structure 66 feet long on each front.
It was two stories, of an approximate 30-foot elevation, built in the
Monterey style architecture with uncovered balconies on two sides of the
second story. An outdoor staircase ascended to the top level and, accord-
ing to old accounts, was necessary to provide travel-weary ladies the
opportunity to avoid the sometimes raucous atmosphere of the first-floor
bar. Handturned pillars supported the second-story balcony with ornate
knee braces and the balcony handrail was supported by decoratively turned
bannisters (2:4,5).

Upon entering the Inn from the main front door a lobby to the right of the
entry foyer contained a flreplace and also a desk for registering guests.

A parlor to the left of the foyer with another fireplace served as a rest
area and waiting room for stage passengers to Los Angeles and Ventura.

The Inn office and barroom were adjacent to the lobby straight ahead and
to the right respectively (2:5).

The kitchen, dining room, pantry, a wash room, and storage room were
straight on from the entry foyer and to the left of the oak staircase
leading upstairs. The upstairs area consisted of a small foyer and large
parlor with the remainder in numerous guest bedrooms and the owner's bed-
room. The bedrooms contained a bed and washstand with pitcher, bowl, and
glass (2:5).

There were no closets in the structure and no running water. The enclosed
1890 photograph reveals an outdoor privy at the rear of the building.
Lighting was by o0il or kerosene lamps. The Inn relied on fireplaces for
heat, four of which were on the first floor, each pair back-to-back,
serving the parlor, dining room, bar, and lobby. The second floor containe
five fireplaces. One was in the owner's bedroom, the others were an ex-
tension of the downstairs fireplaces into three bedrooms and the parlor.
These fireplaces were small and burned coal, not wood (2:5).
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The building, as it exists today, is not totally complete inside. The
interior wall framing closely approximates the original walls with the
addition of electrical, heating, water, and a fire protection system.
Wallboard is installed rather than the original lath and plaster in-
terior. Authentic oak wainscotting, period wallpapers and paint will
be duplicated per the research of the Conejo Valley Historical Society
and is in process at this time.

Windows, doors, flooring, and other decor are a duplication of the
original materials used in the structure with reproduction knobs,
latches, and other hardware. The interior staircase, exterior bannisters
porch supports, railings, etc. are being duplicated based on old photo-
graphs.

In order to satisfy modern building and safety codes, some modification
has been necessary in the location of doors and windows. This has been
minimal and only a detailed comparison of the new structure versus old
photographs could detect the change. A full underground basement which
includes restrooms, work areas for furniture restoration, and research
has been added in place of the original small root cellar.

The Inn was moved 7 mile south to a new location on the same property

holdings to make way for the expansion of Highway 101 in 1966. The
building was in the process of being restored when it burned in April
of 1970. During the period of restoration a great deal of research
was performed and this is the basis for the close duplication of the
new building.

REFERENCES

1. Charles F. Outland, '"Stagecoaching on El1 Camino Real,'" Glendale,
Calif., 1973, p. 164

2. Gwen Hinzie, Deborah Vittum, "A Short History of the Stagecoach
Inn," Paper for the Conejo Valley Historical Society, November,
1967, pp. 4,5

3. Ventura Signal Newspaper, Article of May 13, 1876, p. 3

Note: Also see attached bibliography for additional references to
the Inn
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The Stagecoach Inn represents the Monterey style architecture that was
used in the later 1800s. Prior to the loss of the original facility to

a fire, the building represented the last remaining structure in the
Conejo Valley from that era. T _

The building, .although a reconstruction, represents a tie with the
historic past of the Conejo Valley and the role the valley served in the
transportation network from San Francisco to Los Angeles with the Coast
Stage Line connection between the Butterfield Overland and Coast Stage
Routes (1). R : S

The concept of the Stagecoach Inn Museum provides a link with the past
history of the valley for the education of interested citizens and the
school children of Ventura and Los Angeles counties and other areas.

The Ventura Signal, a weekly newspaper published in Ventura, reported on
May 13, 1876 as follows: g

"The new hotel will be commenced at once.'-
On May 27, 1876 the newspaper reported as follows: .

"The new hotel will be opened on the 4th of
July, at which time it is hoped the people
of the (Conejo) Valley, and also of Pleasant
Valley and Colonia and such others as may
come will have a grand celebration."

Based on this grand opening date, the Conejo Valley Historical Society and
the city of Thousand Oaks have declared a bicentennial-centennial cele-
bration for July 4, 1976. The city of Thousand Oaks has been recognized
as a bicentennial city with a tri-village project consisting of structures
from the aboriginal Chumash Indian, Spanish, and early settler eras re-
spectively. This project will be located in an area near the Stagecoach
Inn Museum grounds and relate to an overall historic educational complex.
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In summary, the Stagecoach Inn (Grand Union Hotel) is felt to have

served an important role in the development of the stage line trans-
portation network in California. The stage line promoted the expansion
and settlement of the Conejo Valley and other areas of Southern California
as the great influx of settlers traversed the continental United States
from east to west. The building replica itself represents the settlement
era of California as it relates to the growth of the United States.

REFERENCE

1. Charles F. Outland, "Stagecoaching on E1 Camino Real,"
Glendale, California, 1973, pp. 111,163,184,185,187,208



A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE STAGECOACH INN

At the time the Grand Union Hotel was built in 1876, the Conejo
Valley was thinly populated. There were five or six great ranches
and no towns at all. During that year the town of Newbury Park
came into being as a United States Post Office named for its post-
master, Mr. James Newbury. At the same time a man named James
Hamel owned considerable property in the area and, desiring to en-
hance the appearance of his property, he set out a great many trees.
Because these trees beautified the area, the town of Newbury became
the town of Newbury Park.

In the 1850s a Mr. James Butterfield had received a government
franchise to run stagecoaches across the United States. His
venture was unique as most stage lines were local and their routes
were relatively short. In 1860 the Civil War began and it became
necessary to put the business aside in the interest of conducting
the war. Mr. Butterfield fully intended to carry on his business
after the war was over, and he did, but not nearly as extensively
as he had hoped and within a few years the Butterfield Stage Line
was out of business. It is my understanding that the Butterfield
stages did run from Los Angeles to San Francisco via the Santa
Clara Valley from approximately 1878 until 1882. The presently
designated Conejo Grade, a portion of U.S. Highway 101, was origi-
nally called the Butterfield Grade when it was planned that the
Butterfield stages would use the Conejo Valley route from San
Buenaventura to Los Angeles. However, plans were changed and the
Butterfield stages never used the route.

In 1876 Mr. James Hamel built the Grand Union Hotel in anticipation
of great overland travel business. The hotel was to be used as a
stagecoach stop for the Butterfield stages that would pass through
the Conejo Valley. Hardly had Hamel built the hotel before the
plans were changed and the building, no longer situated on a main
stagecoach route, became a stopping place for local stage travelers.
During the time that Mr. Hamel owned the hotel, his patrons were
mostly cattle and grain buyers visiting the Conejo Valley's large
ranch owners as well as land speculators. He owned the hotel for
only four years, selling it in 1880 to Mr. and Mrs. Cecil Haigh.

At that time a weekly newspaper, called the Ventura Signal, was
printed in San Buenaventura. It was the only newspaper in the
area and consisted of four pages. It had a special column called
"Neighborhood Items" which gave local news from the various out-
lying towns such as Springville, E1 Rio, and Newbury Park (El Rio
was at that time called New Jerusalem). An item in the February
26, 1876 issue mentioned talk of a large hotel to go up at the
Newbury Park Station to be built by Mr. James Hamel.



On May 13, 1876 a brief notice appeared that the new hotel would
""commence at once'.

On May 27 a notice stated that D. Rendebuck had contracted to
carry the mail from Springville to Newbury Park three times a
week. Another notice, on the same day, indicated that the hotel
would open on July 4 and a public invitation was extended to the
people of the Conejo and Pleasant Valleys and Colonia to come
for a grand celebration.

On May 20, 1876 a notice had appeared stating that a number of
Santa Barbarans had been induced by Mr. Hamel to make the Conejo

a summer resort and, to that end, Mr. Hamel proposed '"to give, for
a merely nominal consideration, a lot for each as would put up
cottages''.

A June 17, 1876 item stated that the Coast Line Stage Company had
changed from the Conejo route to the Lyons Station route and the
editors had been requested by the agents of the company and by
citizens generally to call the attention of the public to the bad
conditions of the road on the new line.

All the above were printed under '"Conejo Items'". On June 24, 1876,
under "Springville Items', this notice appeared: "Mr. Hut of Ventura
proposes to run a line of hacks to the Conejo from this place com-
mencing on Monday next. The line is much needed and we hope it will
be maintained'. '

On December 28, 1877, under the general heading of '"Neighborhood
Items" announcement was made of contracts to be let to carry the
mails. The item said:

"This is the year when contracts are let to carry

the mails and all bids must be mailed in to reach

Washington before February 2, 1878. The contracts
will be on routes. . . . .

"Also on Route 46 from San Buenaventura by
Hueneme, Springville, Newbury Park and En

Cinio (Encino) to Los Angeles, 76 miles and
back three times a week. Leave San Buenaventura
Monday, Wednesday and Friday at 6 p.m., and ar-
rive Los Angeles next day at 6 p.m. Leave Los
Angeles Monday, Wednesday and Friday, arrive San
Buenaventura at 6 p.m.

Bond of $5,000 required with bid. Parties de-
siring to bid can obtain further information
and also blanks upon which to make their pro-
posals from the postmaster on the route."

A rather glowing account of conditions in the Conejo Valley
appeared under '"Conejo Items' on February 2, 1878:



"Mr. O.L. Abbot passed through here on Thursday
on his way to Santa Barbara and informed us that
the Conejo is looking finely, grass growing, feed
good, stock improving, and an abundance of rain-
probably almost 13 inches for the season. Pros-
pects never better, crops sure. He thinks there
will be 6,000 acres of wheat harvested, all look-
ing well, and go from 20 to 25 sacks to the acre.

The roadmaster, he thinks, should look at once
into improvement of the road to Hueneme, from
which point the grain will all be shipped. One
day's work will go as far now as five in the
summer, when the ground is hard."

Another item, on the same day, stated:

"Eli Rundel, late stage agent at Santa Barbara,
will take the new hotel and run it in good
style. Will also put in a crop of wheat."

The stagecoach lines entered and crossed Ventura County from Los
Angeles via Simi, the Conejo and Santa Clara Valleys. The Santa
Clara Valley route eventually became the main passenger route

to Los Angeles from San Buenaventura. All the routes converged
at San Buenaventura and proceeded northward along the coast to
Santa Barbara. The route of the stagecoaches from Ventura to Los
Angeles was via Hueneme, Springville (later to become part of
Camarillo), Newbury Park and Encino. The Conejo stage route,
apparently, traveled from Hueneme over what is now Lewis Road

to Springville, thence over the Conejo Grade onto what is now
0ld Conejo Road, into the portion of Borchard Road traveling
east, past the Stagecoach Inn at its original location on Newbury
Road to where Newbury Road winds southward toward the hills and
thence to Los Angeles. There was a more direct route to Hueneme
by way of Potrero (Reino) Road but it was so steep that it could
be traversed only with an empty wagon. This road is, of course,
now paved and passes the rear of the Camarillo State Hospital.

Before 1873 the principal stage route from Los Angeles to coastal
points was by way of Chatsworth, Simi, and Saticoy in the Santa
Clara Valley, to Ventura, and thence along the beaches to Santa
Barbara. This road was passable only at low tide as the horses
had to draw the coaches through the surf.

In 1887 the Southern Pacific Railroad was laid from Saugus to
Santa Barbara. It was the beginning of the end for stagecoach
service. Mr. Hamel prophesied ''the county would go to the dogs"
because all stage stations would be closed if the railroad built
its coast line. It was in that year that Camarillo came into
being when the Southern Pacific Railroad built the line through
that area and the city grew up around it. In the Conejo Valley,
however, which had no other adequate transportation system, the
stagecoaches hauling mail, freight, and a few passengers did run
until 1917.
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